

7/20/2023

Early Childhood Intervention Parent Handbook

Contents

Welcome to ECI!	2
A Message for Parents from the ECI Director	2
What is Texas ECI?	3
What are Your Rights in ECI?	4
Accessing Your Child's Records	6
Basic Rights	7
First Steps: Getting Started in ECI	8
Step 1: Referral	8
Step 2: First Visit	
Step 3: Evaluation and Assessment	10
Next Steps: ECI Services	12
Step 4: Individualized Family Service Plan Meeting and	
Development	12
Step 5: ECI Service Delivery Begins	
Step 6: Review Your Child's Progress	15
Future Steps: Leaving ECI	16
Step 7: Transition (Leaving ECI)	16
Resolving Disagreements	18
Determination of Parent (to be completed by ECI Service Coordinator)	22
Acknowledgment of Receipt of ECI Parent Handbook	23
Glossary	24
Information and Resources	25

Welcome to ECI!

The Texas Health and Human Services Commission (HHSC) Early Childhood Intervention (ECI) program serves families with children who are birth to 36 months of age with developmental delays or disabilities. ECI provides supports and services to strengthen a family's ability to access resources and improve their child's development through daily activities.

This handbook will help you understand what to expect during the time your family is involved with ECI and explains the legal rights you have as the parent of a child in ECI. Knowing and understanding your rights is important to help you ensure you are getting the needed services for your child and family.

<u>Texas ECI: Family to Family</u> is a video that offers a family perspective of ECI for families who have been or may be referred to ECI. It may help you understand more about ECI services and what to expect.

<u>Parent to Parent: Knowing Your Rights</u> is a video that provides an overview of some of your rights, including consent, prior written notice and confidentiality.

To find the Texas Administrative Code rule citations for the Early Childhood Intervention program, please visit

https://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac\$ext.ViewTAC?tac_view=4&ti=26&pt=1&ch=350.

Talk to your local ECI program if you need more information or have a concern about your services. If you still have concerns or need more information, call the toll-free HHSC Office of the Ombudsman line at 877-787-8999. Staff can connect you with someone to talk to you about your concerns.

If you are a person who is deaf or hard of hearing, use the relay option of your choice, or dial 7-1-1 to connect with Relay Texas.

A Message for Parents from the ECI Director

All children learn and grow at their own pace, but some babies and toddlers need a little extra help. If you are concerned about your child's development, you are not alone. Many parents have come to ECI to get help for their babies.

Since 1981, Texas ECI has been providing services and support to families like yours. Our service providers teach parents activities that help children with developmental delays or disabilities learn and grow. ECI provides most of its services and supports to children and their families in their homes and other places

where children and families go. Our goal is for you, and others who care for your child, to learn how to best help your child.

At Texas ECI, we know that you are the most important person in your child's life and know your child better than anyone. As a parent, you are your child's first and best teacher. You are an important participant in every step of the process, from deciding what kind of help your child and family need, to working daily with your child to help them grow and learn.

Welcome to ECI! We look forward to working together with a mutual goal of a bright future for your child.

What is Texas ECI?

Your local ECI program is one of many across Texas that is part of the statewide early childhood intervention system. The state agency responsible for coordinating ECI services is the Texas Health and Human Services Commission (HHSC). HHSC contracts with local agencies throughout Texas to provide ECI services. No matter where you live in Texas, there is an ECI program that serves you.

The HHSC ECI staff and local programs in your community work together to provide early intervention services for families and children. The federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) Part C allows states to operate early childhood intervention programs. All early intervention programs must meet the requirements of IDEA. ECI receives funding under Part C of IDEA, as well as from the State of Texas. ECI also receives funds through its collection of payments from Medicaid, CHIP, private insurance and fees charged to some families based on income and family size.

Important Information about ECI

Parents and professionals work together as a team. As part of the team, you help develop a plan for ECI services. These services will show you how you can help your child develop.

Services are provided in places convenient for families. ECI provides services in familiar places, such as your home, your child's day care center or other places in your community.

Research shows children learn new skills best during everyday activities. Licensed and ECI-credentialed professionals work with you to find learning opportunities to help your child within daily routines such as bath time, mealtime or even while shopping for groceries.

Services are coordinated with other providers in the community. The person assigned to help you with this is your service coordinator. ECI works with doctors, child care providers, social services, schools and others to help your family identify and access important resources.

Families of all income levels can receive ECI services. Families are expected to share in the cost of services; however, no family is turned away because of an inability to pay. For some families, services are paid for through Medicaid or private health insurance.

What are Your Rights in ECI?

You and your child have rights (also called procedural safeguards) that begin when ECI first learns about your child. It is important for you to know and understand those rights. They are designed to protect your child and family. This handbook contains information about your rights. ECI staff will also explain them to you, and you are encouraged to ask questions at any time to help you understand them.

In addition to the ECI Parent Handbook, there is a short online video in which a parent gives examples of how and when you may choose to exercise your rights during your time with ECI. The video, *Parent to Parent: Knowing Your Rights* (available in both English and Spanish), provides an overview of some of your rights, including:

- Written parental consent
- Prior written notice
- Confidentiality

This video, as well as other ECI videos, is located on the ECI web page at: <a href="https://html.nci.nlm.nci.

Written Parental Consent

One of the most important rights you have as a parent is to decide what is best for your child. ECI must get written permission from you for almost any action they want to take that will affect your child. This is called written parental consent. Written parental consent is documentation that you have been informed of and agree to the proposed action. Your right to give written consent is protected under IDEA.

The ECI program must also send written notice if they do not agree to a request you make for your child. For example, if you make a request of ECI about an aspect of your services and your ECI team does not agree to your request, they will send you written notice telling you why they will not be granting your request. The notice

will explain the reason for their decision and what you can do if you disagree with their denial of your request.

Before signing written consent that may affect your child or family, make sure you:

- Have been informed, in your native language, of all relevant information.
- Understand and agree to the activity.

Prior Written Notice

Another important right, which starts when you begin in ECI and continues throughout your time in the program, is your right to receive advance notice of meetings and activities in which you will be asked to participate. The notice, which is referred to in the law as "prior written notice," is intended to inform you when ECI is scheduling a meeting and proposing to take or not take actions. The notice will also remind you of your rights related to those actions.

ECI must provide you prior written notice of meetings early enough to give you time to prepare. This will allow you and any others you want to invite enough time to participate in an informed way. The notice tells you:

- What will be discussed.
- Any records or reports that might be used during the discussion.
- Who will be at the meeting.
- When and where the meeting will take place.
- Information about your rights related to the meeting.
- Other information you might need so you can actively participate.

You will receive prior written notice from your ECI program for all activities involving your child's screening; evaluation; assessment; determination of eligibility; beginning, changing, or discontinuing ECI services; and transition. You may get this type of notice at the same time you are notified of a meeting to discuss an issue. The notice will contain the information you need in order to understand what ECI is proposing, so you can decide if you agree and what you can do if you don't agree.

Be sure to read carefully any notice you receive and ask for additional information if you need it. ECI wants you to understand and participate in decisions that will impact your child and family.

Confidentiality

From the moment ECI learns about your family, any information given to ECI about your child or family is confidential. With a few exceptions, ECI cannot give this information to anyone, including other agencies or professionals, without your

written consent. Even after you have left ECI, your personal records remain confidential.

There may be times when ECI would like to get information about your child from other health care or service providers. ECI will first get your written consent to contact the other health care or service providers. ECI will also keep information received from these other sources confidential, with the same few exceptions.

There are a few exceptions in which your ECI program may need to share information about your child or family without getting your consent each time. Examples include:

- Your ECI program sends information about your family, including your income and the ECI services you are receiving, to HHSC ECI for administrative purposes. HHSC ECI uses this information to make sure local ECI programs are following the rules created by HHSC ECI.
- Your ECI program may have to turn over records without your consent if a court orders them to, or if Child Protective Services is conducting an investigation, or if your child is in foster care.

If you believe your right to confidentiality has been violated, you may file a written complaint with one or more of the following:

- Your ECI program
- Health and Human Services Commission ECI Director Early Childhood Intervention PO Box 149030, MC3029 Austin, Texas 78714
- Family Policy Compliance Office U.S. Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20202

Accessing Your Child's Records

You have rights related to your child's records that come from two federal laws: IDEA and the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). These laws say you can:

- Expect ECI to keep your family's personal information confidential.
- Inspect or review ECI records about your child and family.
- Give someone else permission to review these records for you.
- Request a copy of your child's ECI record.

- Refuse to give permission to release your child's records to others outside of ECI.
- Ask for explanations of information in the records that you don't understand.
- Ask for a list of what records ECI keeps on your child and family and where they are kept.
- Ask ECI to make changes to information you think is not accurate, is misleading, or that violates your or your child's privacy.
- Ask for a hearing to challenge information in your child's records that you believe is inaccurate, misleading, or violates your or your child's privacy and that ECI has refused your request to change or remove.

If you want to look at your child's record, ask your ECI program. The ECI program will arrange for you or your representative to inspect or review your record within 10 days after your request is made.

If you disagree with information in your child's record, you have the right to ask the ECI program to change the record. ECI will review the record and notify you of their decision within 30 days. If ECI decides to not change the record, you have the right to request a hearing to amend the record.

A hearing will be conducted within 30 days of your request. You will be notified of the date, time and location of the hearing in a reasonable amount of time before the hearing to give you time to prepare. The hearing will be conducted by an individual who does not have a direct interest in the outcome of the hearing. You may, at your own expense, be assisted or represented by one or more individuals of your choosing, including an attorney, at the hearing. You or your attorney will be able to present your evidence at the hearing. You will receive a summary of the decision, which is based on the evidence presented at the hearing, within 30 days.

Your child's records will be kept by the ECI program for seven years after your child leaves the program. The ECI program may destroy the records after seven years with or without your consent. However, they may also keep a permanent record of your child's name, address and telephone number.

Basic Rights

Your basic rights begin when ECI first learns of your child and continue through your child's transition out of ECI. Those rights include:

- Receiving information from ECI that you can understand before making any decisions about ECI services.
- Consenting or not consenting to services.
- Receiving adequate written notice of important meetings or actions.
- Accessing your child's record.

 Knowing that the information ECI has about your child and family is confidential.

There are seven steps in the ECI process. If you have any questions about your rights and how they apply at any step of the process, please ask. Your ECI service coordinator is a good resource if you want more information about your rights.

First Steps: Getting Started in ECI

Step 1: Referral What is a referral?

A referral to ECI happens when a parent or someone else, such as a child's doctor, contacts ECI to recommend a child be evaluated. The evaluation determines if a child is eligible for ECI services. Within a few days of receiving a referral, someone from your local ECI program will contact you to set up the first visit.

What are my rights once my child has been referred?

You can ask that any information from ECI be given in your native language or in the way you prefer to communicate. This can include information provided in another spoken language, in sign language, in electronic format, in Braille, using an assistive technology device or through an interpreter provided by ECI, if necessary.

If at any time you are told something or asked to sign something you do not understand, ask ECI to explain it in a different way. Ask questions until you are sure you understand the information. Do not sign forms until you are sure you know what they mean for you and your child. ECI wants you to fully understand the information you need to plan services for your child and family.

Also, any information ECI collects about your family cannot be shared without your permission.

IMPORTANT REMINDER: All of your rights begin from the moment ECI learns about your child.

Step 2: First Visit

What happens during the first visit?

Your first visit with ECI may happen at your home, your ECI program's office, your child's day care, or somewhere else you choose. This meeting is a chance for ECI to learn more about your child and family and for you to learn more about ECI. Before the first in-person visit, ECI might call you to explain the ECI program and services and gather more information about your concerns.

During the first visit, ECI staff will ask you about concerns you have for your child. They will discuss activities important to your family so they can plan services with those activities in mind. They may also begin the evaluation and assessment process.

If your child sometimes lives with another family member, such as with a parent living in another area of Texas, let ECI know. If your child is eligible for ECI, he or she will be able to receive services from your local program as well as the ECI program in the other part of the state.

At the first visit, the ECI program staff will review this ECI Parent Handbook with you. You will be asked to sign a form that states you received the handbook and that you understand it.

You may also be asked to give written consent to allow ECI to request information from and share information with others, such as your child's doctor, child care center, relatives and others who help care for your child. ECI will explain how the information will be used to plan for your child's services. Be sure to ask the ECI staff if you have questions, or if you have concerns about sharing any information.

ECI staff will also talk with you about which ECI services are provided at no cost to your family and which services may have a fee.

What is my role during the first visit?

Your role during the first visit is to give ECI important information about your child and family. ECI staff will ask questions about your family and about your child's health and development. They may also ask about important people in your family's life and what kind of help you might already be getting from them.

You do not have to answer any questions you don't want to; however, ECI staff relies on you to provide information they need to understand what services can help your child and family. In addition to answering their questions, you are encouraged to tell them anything about your child or family that you think is important for ECI to know. No one knows your child as well as you.

If you are not sure why you are being asked a certain question or why you need to sign a certain form, ask for more information before you answer or sign.

What are my rights during the first visit?

If someone from ECI says something or asks you to sign something you don't understand, ask them to explain it another way. You have a right to know how information about your child and family will be used. If you do not understand why

ECI is asking some questions, ask them to explain why they need to know the information.

Your right to decide what ECI services you want or don't want, and to have information presented in the way you can best understand, applies during your first visit and continues throughout your time with ECI. Additionally, your right to confidentiality begins from the moment ECI learns about your child. Your right to confidentiality continues even after your child leaves the program. After your child exits ECI, their records will be stored for seven years. The records may be destroyed in a confidential manner after the seventh year. However, the program may also keep a permanent record of your child's name, address and telephone number.

Step 3: Evaluation and Assessment

What are evaluation and assessment?

Evaluation and assessment determine if your child has a developmental delay, if there are other concerns with your child's development, and what services are needed to help your child develop. Sometimes evaluation and assessment occur at your first visit and sometimes they occur at a later visit. With your consent, ECI will ask you about and look at all areas of your child's development. This will be done by using specific tests, observing your child and asking lots of questions. You will work with a team of ECI professionals for evaluation and assessment. The evaluation and any assessments are done at no cost to families.

What will the staff do during evaluation and assessment?

The team will need to know about your child's vision, hearing and physical abilities. They will talk to you about your child's nutrition and eating, interaction with others and communication skills. They will check to see if any type of special equipment, called assistive technology, is needed to help your child move around, play or communicate with others.

The team will use an evaluation tool to see if your child qualifies for ECI with a developmental delay. If your child has a medical diagnosis or a hearing or vision impairment that qualifies him or her for ECI, the team does not have to use the evaluation tool. The staff will ask you questions about your child and watch your child play with specific toys. In addition, ECI team members will ask about your child and family's daily routines, activities your family and child enjoy, and other people who are important in your child's life.

This might all be done in one visit or may be broken up into two or three visits. Sometimes vision, hearing, nutrition and assistive technology are reviewed with all the other areas, but sometimes the staff look at them separately. If ECI has a concern about the results of the evaluation or assessments, they may recommend you get additional testing, especially in the areas of hearing, vision or nutrition. ECI can help you find a doctor or other specialist who can do the additional testing. Whether you get this additional testing is up to you.

You have the right to understand why the ECI staff want to do these evaluations or assessments for your child, how the results will be used and what will happen if the results indicate a need for further testing. Be sure you understand the process before you give your written consent.

What is my role during evaluation and assessment?

The ECI team cannot complete the evaluation and assessment without you. You know your child best!

You may be asked to provide information about:

- Your child's development.
- Your concerns about your child's development.
- Your child's health.
- Problems or issues related to the pregnancy and birth of your child.
- Family history of vision or hearing problems.
- Priorities you have for your child.
- Resources you might already have to assist your child and family.

What are my rights during evaluation and assessment?

ECI must provide you prior written notice for your evaluation and assessment meeting. This will allow you to prepare for the evaluation and to invite anyone who you would like to attend the meeting with you. Parents must give written consent before the ECI staff can do testing on their child. You can give consent for all testing or only the tests you want your child to receive. If you do not give consent for a test, it will not be done. You will be asked to sign a form giving consent for any tests. You have a right to ask for and receive a full evaluation.

At no cost to you, you can request one copy of the results of each evaluation and assessment. Your child's evaluation and assessment results will become part of your child's records. It is important for you to know your rights regarding your child's records. As you go through ECI, you may want to review the section of the handbook about your rights regarding records.

If your child's evaluation shows he or she is not eligible for ECI, you will be provided a notification indicating your child is ineligible for ECI services. The notice will also provide details about the steps you can take if you do not agree with this decision.

Next Steps: ECI Services

Step 4: Individualized Family Service Plan Meeting and Development What is the IFSP meeting?

The plan for services that you and the ECI staff will develop for your child is called the Individualized Family Service Plan (IFSP). It is "individualized" because it is developed based on the unique needs of your family and child. It is called a "family service plan" because it includes goals and activities for the family, not just your child.

The IFSP meeting is held to develop your child and family's IFSP. While you are in ECI, the IFSP will be reviewed and updated whenever necessary, but at least every six months.

IFSP meetings are always at a place and time that works for you. The IFSP team includes you and at least two ECI staff members who specialize in different areas of development. The meeting can also include anyone else you want to be there, such as other family members, friends or others you think could help with planning for your child. The IFSP must be written within 45 days of your referral to ECI.

During the IFSP meeting, you and the rest of the team will discuss:

- What your child is currently doing and learning.
- Areas in which your child may need extra help.
- Ideas about how ECI can assist you to help your child grow and learn.

You and the rest of the team will decide:

- Goals for your child and family.
- What services are needed to assist you, so you can help your child grow and develop.
- How often those services will be provided.
- Who will provide the ECI services.

Your IFSP will also include:

- The name of your service coordinator.
- A summary of your child's medical history.
- A description of how your child is developing.
- A description of your child's strengths and needs.
- An explanation of how the team will measure your child's progress.
- When services will begin and end.
- Ideas for helping your child and family find services you need when you leave ECI.

- Information about how services are paid for.
- A summary of services your child needs that are not provided by ECI.

Sometime before or during the IFSP meeting, you will be asked for information about what insurance you have (private and public) and about your family's income and expenses. Some families may be required to pay a monthly fee, based on a sliding fee scale, for some ECI services. You may also be asked for permission to bill some services to your private or public insurance. ECI will explain the family cost share system to you and answer your questions. You will be asked to sign a financial agreement that says how much money, if any, you will be asked to pay each month. No one is refused services based on an inability to pay. You have specific rights related to the family cost share system. These rights are fully described in the *Paying for Early Childhood Intervention Services* booklet.

What is my role during the IFSP meeting?

You have the central role in the meeting. You are an equal member of the team that will decide what services you and your child will receive. You can invite others who know your child, like family members or friends, to the meeting. Think about what you would like to see your child doing or learning in the next six months or year; this will help the team with planning.

During the IFSP meeting, you will be asked for your ideas about the skills and activities your child does well, needs help with, enjoys or doesn't enjoy, and things you like doing together. The information you give the team will be important in planning the services that will help your child and family. ECI team members will work with you to develop strategies or activities you can do to help your child grow and learn. Talking about the kinds of things you and your child do together will help your team come up with strategies that can be part of your daily activities.

What are my rights during the IFSP meeting?

Some of your most important rights apply before the IFSP meeting happens. ECI staff must provide prior written notice that tells you when the IFSP meeting will take place so that you will have time to plan and prepare. For example, you may want to invite a family member, caregiver or friend to be there, or you may want time to think about the decisions you will be making. The notice should also tell you what will be discussed and who else will be there. The notice should remind you that you can invite other people to attend the meeting.

If the location, date or time of the meeting would keep you or any other person you may want to bring with you from attending, contact ECI and ask for another time or location.

During the meeting, you have the right to fully participate in deciding the services you need for your child and family. All decisions must be based on what is best for your child and family.

ECI cannot provide services unless you give consent in writing. You have the right to consent to some services but not others. If ECI staff recommend some services you do not want, you can refuse those services and still receive other services. You also can, at any time, decide you do not want any ECI services.

You can disagree with ECI staff about all or some of the IFSP. You do not have to sign the plan if you don't agree with it. You can file a complaint or request a hearing by following the process described in the "Resolving Disagreements" section of this booklet.

Be sure you get a copy of the IFSP. ECI will give you one copy at no cost to you.

Step 5: ECI Service Delivery Begins What is service delivery?

Once the IFSP is written, the team is ready to begin providing the services that were planned. The planned services must begin within 28 days of the date you signed the IFSP.

Most ECI services are delivered using an approach called "coaching." In coaching, the ECI staff member will teach you ways to help with your child's development as part of your daily activities. The staff member will ask you to practice the activities during your visit. This way, you will know how to do the activities with your child between ECI visits. During your visit, you will have time to ask questions and discuss which activities are working and which are not. The ECI staff member will also want to hear about new things your child is doing, any concerns you have and any updates about your family's life that might affect your child's growth and development. Services are individualized to reflect your family's preferences, learning styles and cultural beliefs.

What is my role during delivery of ECI services?

All ECI services will focus on teaching you activities and strategies that you can use every day to help your child learn and develop. Your child will make progress because of the things you do with your child between ECI visits.

Lots of ECI activities will look like things you do with your child every day, such as diaper changing, feeding, bath time, even playing. Sometimes the ECI staff member may join you outside your home, like at a park or the grocery store, to help you find ways to make activities outside the home go more smoothly.

Everything your ECI staff member teaches you is intended to help your child develop, so be sure to ask why the activities and strategies are being recommended.

What are my rights during delivery of ECI services?

You gave consent for the services you are receiving when you signed the IFSP. However, you have the right to withdraw your consent for any of the services at any time. If you do withdraw your consent, ECI must stop providing that service.

The ECI staff member providing services will write a progress note about each visit. If you do not receive a copy at the time of the visit, you can ask for a copy at any time. A copy of all the progress notes will also be in your child's records. Refer to the "Basic Rights" section under "Accessing Your Child's Records" if you need information about how to see your child's records or to ask for a change to something in those records.

You have the right to disagree with the ECI program staff about your services. Let them know if the suggested strategies are not working, or if you don't agree with how your services are being delivered.

If you cannot come to an agreement with your ECI team about services, or if you feel that any of your rights have been violated, you can pursue any of the options for handling a disagreement discussed in the "Resolving Disagreements" section of this handbook. However, most disagreements or concerns about services can be resolved locally. You may want to talk to your service coordinator or the program director about your concerns.

Step 6: Review Your Child's Progress

Babies and toddlers can change a lot in just a few months. They are learning how to do new things all the time. While your family is with ECI, you will be trying a lot of different things to help your child grow and learn. Therefore, it is important to regularly review your child's progress.

ECI staff must meet with you to review your child's progress at least every six months to determine whether the services and strategies on your IFSP are helping. The first review must occur six months after the IFSP is signed. Reviews can occur sooner if you or any other team members think there may be a need to change your child's IFSP.

What is my role during a review?

During a review, you should let the ECI team know:

- What is and is not working for your child and family.
- Strategies you have used to help your child and how they have worked.
- Changes you have seen in your child's health and development.
- Changes in your family that may be affecting your child.
- Other needs of your family that you want ECI to help with.

ECI wants to do what works best for your child and family. Be sure to let the team know if you would like any changes in your ECI services or assistance in obtaining services from other agencies or programs in your community.

What are my rights during a review?

Your rights during any review of the IFSP are the same as those at the first IFSP meeting. This includes your right to prior written notice of the meeting as well as any changes to the IFSP that ECI proposes or refuses to make.

Future Steps: Leaving ECI

Step 7: Transition (Leaving ECI)

What is transition?

All children must leave ECI by their third birthday. Children who no longer have a developmental delay may be ready to leave earlier, while others stay in ECI until they turn three. Some children may not need any more services after ECI. However, many children will continue to need extra help after their third birthday.

Transition is the process to help you decide what your child and family might need when you leave ECI. Because this is such an important step, ECI will begin working with you to plan transition strategies far enough in advance so that the change will happen smoothly and without a gap in services.

Planning for your child's transition from ECI begins after your child is two. This may seem like a long time to plan, but you may have several options to explore. For example, you may want to learn about the differences in services between a preschool program at the local school district, Head Start, a private preschool and therapy services in your home or a clinic. If these are options you are considering, you may need time to visit all these settings before deciding what is best for your child. Transition options address your child's medical and social needs in addition to educational and developmental needs.

You and your service coordinator will write up the transition strategies you develop together. A copy will go into your child's records.

At least 90 days before your child's third birthday, your service coordinator will offer to set up transition meetings with the programs or community services you are considering for your child. This does not mean you have to enroll your child in those programs. It is a chance to learn more about what they offer, how they determine who is eligible for their services, and what will happen next if you decide you want these services for your child. Some providers meet with families individually and others conduct meetings with several parents at a time.

Once you have decided on the programs or services you want to pursue, ECI will make referrals to them. With your consent, ECI will send them information about your child. When a program receives the referral from ECI, they will contact you to let you know the next steps. This could include meetings to evaluate your child for eligibility or to plan what services your child will receive. Someone from ECI who knows your child can attend these meetings with you if you invite them. Even after a referral is made, you can change your mind at any time and decide not to enroll your child.

What is my role during transition?

During transition, you are making decisions about what happens to your child and family when ECI services end. For ECI to help you in planning for the future, you need to share with them your hopes, priorities and concerns about your child's future. As you talk about different options, be sure to ask questions so you will have the information you need to make good decisions.

While in ECI, your service coordinator and other ECI staff have been available to help you find and get additional services for your child and family. Other programs may not offer this type of support for families. You can be your own service coordinator and advocate. However, if you think you will need help with finding services and support for your child or family, ask your service coordinator to help you find a family support or advocacy organization in your community.

You may want to keep any information ECI gives you about community services and resources during the transition process in case you need that information after leaving ECI. Another helpful tool you will receive during transition is the booklet called *Beyond ECI*.

What are my rights during transition?

ECI will ask for your permission to share your child's information with other programs you may be considering. Also, you will receive prior written notice of

transition meetings or conferences. The decision about which, if any, programs or services you want to pursue for your child is yours. You also can decide you do not want any services after your child turns three.

ECI may send the local school district your child's information close to your child's third birthday without your prior written consent. ECI will notify you what information will be sent to the local school district and when it will be sent. However, you have the right to inform ECI in writing that you do not want your child's information sent to the local school district. If you inform ECI that you do not want your child's information sent, ECI will not share your child's information with the local school district.

Your decision not to seek further services is not a permanent one. As the parent, you can always arrange for services later. For example, if you choose not to refer your child to the local school district for special education services at age three, you have the right to change your mind. After leaving ECI, you can contact the local school district at any time and ask that your child be evaluated for eligibility for special education.

Resolving Disagreements

The following explains how you can pursue a complaint or disagreement with ECI. This process can be used at any time you and the ECI team working with your family cannot agree. It is also available if you are not satisfied with some experience you have had in ECI that you think violated your rights.

You have a right to have your disagreement addressed by filing a complaint with HHSC ECI. You also have the right to request mediation or an administrative due process hearing. These are important rights and ones you have throughout your time in ECI. Refer to this section of the handbook at any time to review the process for resolving disputes or ask your ECI staff member to explain the process to you.

Resolving Problems Locally

Most disagreements between families and ECI programs can be resolved locally without going through the formal complaint process. Suggestions for resolving problems or concerns locally include:

- Contacting the program director of your local ECI program to discuss your concerns and ask for a resolution.
- Calling the HHSC Office of the Ombudsman at 877-787-8999 to ask to speak with someone at the HHSC ECI state office who will help resolve a problem or concern locally.

Filing a Complaint with HHSC

If you are unable or do not want to resolve the issue locally, you have the right to file a complaint with HHSC ECI. You can file a complaint about an issue involving your child or about any aspect of the ECI system that you believe violates legal requirements.

The complaint must be in writing and include:

- A statement describing the complaint.
- The facts on which the statement is based.
- The signature and contact information of the person filing the complaint.
- If the complaint involves a specific child:
 - ▶ The name and address of the child.
 - ▶ The name of the ECI program serving the child.
 - ▶ A description of the problem.
 - A proposed resolution of the problem.

The complaint must be received by HHSC ECI not more than one year after the issue occurs.

Send a letter, fax or email of the written and signed complaint to the HHSC ECI office to request an investigation. State the facts on which your complaint is based. You do not have to contact or discuss a complaint with your local ECI program before filing a complaint with HHSC ECI. However, a copy of your complaint will be provided to them. HHSC ECI must resolve the complaint within 60 days from the time they receive it. Their findings and decision will be sent to you in writing.

Mediation

When HHSC ECI receives your complaint, they will contact you to offer mediation services. If you choose to try mediation, HHSC ECI will assign a neutral mediator (at HHSC ECI's expense) to see if they can resolve the problem between you and your ECI program. Both you and the program will have to agree to use mediation. It is your choice whether to accept the offer of mediation or to proceed with your complaint.

You can request mediation without first filing a complaint or an administrative due process hearing. However, you still need to provide a written statement of the issues you want resolved. Contact the HHSC ECI office to make your request for mediation.

The request for mediation must:

- Be in writing and signed by the requesting party.
- State the dispute to be mediated and specify if the matter concerns a particular child or concerns a potential or actual violation of legal requirements.
- Name the opposing party and include their signature if they also agree to mediation.
- Contain contact information for all parties if known.
- Document whether a request for mediation has been sent to all parties.

If you and the program come to an agreement through mediation, the mediator will help you and the program put the agreement in writing. A copy of the written agreement will be given to both you and the program. Mediation agreements are confidential.

Administrative Due Process Hearing

You have the right to ask for an administrative due process hearing conducted by a hearing officer if you disagree with decisions made by your ECI team. Your request must be in writing. This includes decisions about eligibility, evaluation and/or services. You can, but are not required to, ask for a hearing after trying one or more of the previous methods first (resolving problems locally, filing a complaint, mediation).

An administrative due process hearing is a more formal process than a complaint or mediation. Though you are not required to have an attorney, some parents choose to hire one because the hearing process uses legal procedures most parents are not familiar with. If you hire an attorney, it is at your expense. You can also be represented or accompanied by someone who is not an attorney, but who has knowledge and training in early childhood intervention services. You have the right to present evidence and confront, cross-examine, and compel the attendance of witnesses. You may find some helpful resources in the "Parent Support" section of the ECI Resource Guide located on the HHSC ECI web site.

You have the right to prohibit the introduction of any evidence at the hearing that has not been disclosed to you at least five days before the hearing. You have the right to obtain a written electronic verbatim transcription of the hearing at no cost to you. You have the right to receive a written copy of the findings and decisions at no cost to you.

The hearing officer must schedule a hearing and make a decision within 30 days from the date a hearing request is filed. The hearing will take place at a time and

place that is reasonably convenient to you. The hearing officer may agree to extend the time beyond the 30 days if needed. While the hearing is in process, your child, if enrolled in ECI, can continue to receive services, including those that may be in dispute.

If you do not agree with the findings and decisions issued from the administrative due process hearing, you have the right to bring civil action in state or federal court.

To file a complaint with HHSC ECI, to request mediation, or to request an administrative due process hearing, send your request or complaint by mail or fax to:

ECI Director
Health and Human Services Commission
Early Childhood Intervention
PO Box 149030
MC3029
Austin, TX 78714

Fax: 512-302-2637

OR

Call the HHS Office of the Ombudsman toll-free at 877-787-8999 for help with inquiries or complaints about ECI. You can also submit your request online at https://hhs.texas.gov/about-hhs/your-rights/hhs-office-ombudsman

Determination of Parent (to be completed by ECI Service Coordinator)

HHSC ECI defines "parent" as the term is defined in 20 U.S.C. 1401(23):

- "A natural, adoptive or foster parent of a child (unless a foster parent is prohibited by State law from serving as a parent)".
- "A guardian (but not the State if the child is a ward of the State)".
- "An individual acting in the place of a natural or adoptive parent (including a grandparent, stepparent, or other relative) with whom the child lives, or an individual who is legally responsible for the child's welfare".

Review the definitions above, and determine which option below is appropriate:

- 1. Parent/Guardian has been identified (No further action required)
- 2. A parent cannot be identified
- 3. Efforts to locate parent have been unsuccessful
- 4. Child is a ward of the state (no foster parent has been appointed)

If #2, #3 or #4 was chosen, STOP and COMPLETE the HHSC ECI Surrogate Parent form before proceeding with review of the handbook.

Acknowledgment of Receipt of ECI Parent Handbook

After this handbook is reviewed with you, read and sign the following:

I have received a copy of my ECI Parent Handbook. It informs me of my rights and my child's rights while enrolled in a Texas program funded by HHSC Early Childhood Intervention. I understand that I have the right to:

- Participate as a team member in all ECI activities.
- Have my child evaluated.
- Give consent, or permission.
- A plan for services within 45 days of referral.
- Prior written notice of IFSP meetings and evaluations.
- Understand ECI activities and my family's rights.
- Confidentiality.
- Review records.
- Disagree.
- Receive ECI screenings, assessment, evaluation, IFSP development and case management at no cost to my family.

My signature indicates I have received my ECI *Parent Handbook* and understand its contents.

Signature of Parent, Surrogate or Guardian

Staff Signature

ECI-11_0820

Glossary

Advocate

Someone who supports or defends your child's interests and rights.

Assessment

Process used to identify your child's needs and strengths; your family's concerns, priorities and resources; and the type and range of services needed.

Beyond ECI

A booklet developed by ECI in collaboration with the Texas Education Agency, the state agency that oversees the Texas public school system. It provides information for families with children transitioning out of ECI. You should receive this booklet when you begin the transition process. If you do not receive this booklet from your local ECI program, ask your service coordinator to provide one.

ECI staff or ECI provider

Persons employed by or under contract to the ECI program that provides ECI services.

Eligibility

Requirements your child must meet to receive early intervention services from a Texas ECI program.

Evaluation

A way to determine your child's eligibility by gathering information about your child's skills and abilities.

IFSP (Individualized Family Service Plan)

A written plan for your child and family's services in your ECI program.

Parent

Includes a natural parent, stepparent, adoptive parent, foster parent, guardian, grandparent or other relative with whom the child lives, or someone else who is legally responsible for the child's welfare. Surrogate parents are assigned for children who do not have someone available who meets the definition of "parent."

Service Coordinator

A person from ECI who works with your family to support your child's development and to help arrange for ECI and community services.

Transition

The process of preparing for your child's departure from a local ECI program. All children must leave ECI by their third birthday or when they are otherwise no longer eligible for ECI.

Information and Resources

Where can I get more information about my rights?

This handbook summarized your rights. If you want to see the full laws, regulations and rules that regulate ECI, visit https://hhs.texas.gov/doing-business-hhs/provider-portals/assistive-services-providers/early-childhood-intervention-programs/eci-compliance-quide

Watch our <u>Parent to Parent: Knowing Your Rights</u> video to get an overview of some of your rights, including: consent, prior written notice, and confidentiality.

Where can I get more information about other resources available to me? ECI Resource Guide

https://hhs.texas.gov/services/disability/early-childhood-intervention-services/eciresource-quidecentral-directory

ECI Library Collection and Library Matters

https://hhs.texas.gov/services/disability/early-childhood-intervention-services/ecilibrary-collection

Parent Companion Web site

http://parentcompanion.org/

Texas 2-1-1 Area Information Centers

https://www.211texas.org/

ECI is a program of the Texas Health and Human Services Commission, which contracts with local agencies to provide services across Texas.

To find your community ECI program, visit https://citysearch.hhsc.state.tx.us/ or call the HHS Office of the Ombudsman at 877-787-8999.

If you are deaf or hard of hearing, use the relay option of your choice, or dial 7-1-1 to connect with Relay Texas.